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Summary

The article discusses the results of a project for the virtual reconstruction
of the architectural decoration and small forms of the church in Dranda, Re-
public of Abkhazia. The available fragments are currently preserved in three
locations: the narthex of this church, the Abkhaz State Museum in Sukhumi,
and the Ecclesiastical Archaeological Museum of the Holy Metropolis of Ab-
khazia. In addition, there are published phototypes of two slabs—now lost-
with complex multi-figure compositions from the same church. The study
and digitization of the existing fragments have brought forward a hypothesis
about the original appearance of the altar barrier and the decoration of the
western facade of the church in Dranda. The slab which may have adorned
the western facade apparently reproduces a fragment of an abbreviated scene
of the Last Judgment (Christ on the throne and four angels). Thanks to the
stylistic and iconographic analogies, this scene is inscribed in the artistic con-
text of the Christian art of the 10th to 11th centuries.

Keywords: reliefs, plastic, Last Judgment, architectural decoration, Dran-
da, sculpture

In 2023, thanks to the support of the Russian Science Foundation, it
became possible to carry out work on the virtual reconstruction of three
monuments (New Athos, the Upper and Lower Churches on Mount Anakopia,
and the Church of the Assumption in Dranda') on the territory of Abkhazia, on
the basis of some preserved fragments which can be dated to the 10th to 11th
centuries. The results of the work on the reconstruction of the architectural
decoration of the Upper and Lower Churches on Mount Anakopia have been
partially published?, and a large article on this topic is in print now’. In
addition, a website has been created to present all the results of the work on
three monuments, including their 3D models, and possible options for the
virtual reconstruction of their architectural decoration (external decor and
small forms)*.

1 Enpoabuesa E. V0., ApxutektypHas naactuka Abxazun B nneproa AbXa3ckoro
uapcrsa (VIII—XI BB.), Mocksa: B PAH, 2020, c. 32-187, 256-270.

2 Enpoabuesa E. 10., bbictpuukuin H. U., pbira [1. O., KapHavienko A. /1.,
Kapnavywenko 3. H., KazennoBa /1. K., HuxHAA LEpKOBbL Ha rope AHaKonusa

(r. HoBbin AdoH, PecnydnTka Abxa3us): ONbIT BUPTYa/lbHOM PEKOHCTPYKLMK
apxuTeKTypHOW aekopauun, Byzantino Caucasica, Bbin. 3, 2023, ¢. 65 — 89.

3 Endoltseva E. Yu., Bystritsky N. I., Dryga D. O., Karnaushenko A. D., Kar-
naushenko E. N., Kazennova L. K. Two Churches on Anacopia Mountain (Abkhazia):
An Attempt of Virtual Reconstruction, Anastasis. Research in Medieval Culture and
Art, vol. XI, N 1, May 2024, p. 120-145 https://anastasis-review.ro/wp-content/up-
loads/ARMCA-2024-XI-1-05 Ekaterina-Endoltseva.pdf

4 https://arch.ivran.ru/
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This article is devoted to the Church of the Assumption in the village of
Dranda (so far the results of the studies carried out on this church have been
published only in brief abstracts’). We have particularly enlarged on some
stone fragments of the church part of which are now kept in several places,
while some of the most eloquent pieces have been lost®.

Most of the fragments available for research are located in the narthex of
the church (fig. 1). Many of these pieces-about thirty in total number—can
be hypothetically identified as fragments of the altar barrier of the church,
while the function of some other fragments and their possible place in the
decorative system of the church still remain unclear. Theoretically, they could
have decorated the frames of the windows or doors on the western facade of
the church. According to the rector of the church, Fr. Andrei Strutsky’, part
of these reliefs “were discovered during the work to restore the original floor
level inside the church. The work was accompanied by the dismantling of
the altar, recently composed of fragments of the cathedral’s cladding and,
possibly, its ancient altar barrier™. After having been cleared of cement, the
fragments were displayed in a makeshift display case in the narthex of the
church.

Five more fragments from the Church of the Assumption, including some
nique artifacts’, are kept in a private museum founded by Fr. Dorofey Dbar™,

5 Enponbuesa E.1O., bbictpuukuin H.U., [Ipbira [1.0., KapHaywenko A./.,
Kapnavywenko 3.H., KazenHoBa /1.K., AntapHas nperpaja uepksu YcneHua B cene
[lpanpa (Pecnybivka Adxa3una): ONbIT BUPTYalbHOM PEKOHCTPYKLUNW, lOCTHKeHNA 1
rnepcriekTuBbl n3ydeHus apxeosormnn CesepHoro Kaskasa B XX — riepBoii 4erseptu
XXI Bexa. Matepnasibi MexayHapoaHOR HAYYHON KOHMEpeHLInn 1o apxeo/orin
Ceseproro Kaskasa «XXXIll KpyriHoBckue uTerus», nocsailerHon 120-1etuio co
AHsA poskaernsa Eprenna Mrnarbesnda Kpynnosa, Mocksa: A PAH, 2024, c. 302-305;
Endoltseva E. Yu., Theme of the Last Judgment Based on the Materials of Architec-
tural Plasticity of the Church in Dranda, Republic of Abkhazia (X early XI centuries),
Historical, Cultural, Interethnic, Religious and Political Connections of Crimea

with the Mediterranean Region and the Countries of the East: Materials of the Vill
International Scientific Conference (Sevastopol, June 3-8, 2024), (in 2 tomes), t. 1,
Moscow, 2024, p. 123-126.

6 Enpoabuesa E. 10., ApxutextypHas niaactmka..., ¢. 211-215, 256-270.

7 The authors are grateful to Fr. Andrey Strutsky for his assistance in conducting
field studies of artifacts.

8 Enpoabuesa E. 10., ApxutextypHasa niactuka..., €. 267-268.

9 https://anyha.org/wp-content/uploads,/2017,/10/Binder1 %D0%A1%D1% 82%D1%
80%D0%B0%D0%BD%D0%B8%D1%86%D0%B0 08.jpg; Enaoabuesa E. 10., 16ap /.
(apxumMaHapHT), ApXMTEKTYpHaa Aekopauusa 1 Majble GpopMbl LepkBy B [lpaHe:
HOBblE AaHHble, BeCTHHK BOJIrorpaickoro rocyaapCTBeHHOro YHuBepcnTera,
Hctopusa. Pernoroseserne, MexayHapoaHbie oTHoleHus, cepua 4, 2018, 1. 23, N° 5,
¢. 196-209.

10 The authors are grateful to Fr. Dorofey Dbar for his help and cooperation.
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the Ecclesiastical Archaeological Museum of the Holy Metropolis of Abkhazia,
located in New Athos Monastery in the city of New Athos, Abkhazia". The
museum was founded in 2002 at New Athos Diocesan Theological School®.

The third part of the fragments (presumably, seven in number), is unfor-
tunately unavailable currently. They were studied in the autumn of 2008
(before reconstruction) in the Abkhasian State Museum in Sukhumi®. The cu-
rator of the museum, M. K. Inal-Ipa, kindly showed us the inventory cards of
seven fragments belonging to the church in Dranda, but no dimensions were
indicated on them, and there was only information about their origin (it was
not possible to see the artifacts in person and measure them at that time).
For this reason, in the 3D reconstruction of the altar barrier, these fragments
have been used only conditionally: their dimensions have been restored by
analogy with reliefs of the same type discovered in the other two places men-
tioned above.

Finally, the most complex compositions, marked by an abundance of
figures, are two slab fragments which unfortunately have not survived. They are
known only from the phototypes published by Countess P. S. Uvarova in 1894".
At that time, both the fragments were kept by A. N. Vedensky, Governor of
Sukhumi District, Kutais Province. One of them depicts Christ and the Mother
of God under arches with triangular copestones (fig. 2), while the other shows
Christ on the throne with two angels (fig. 3). The dimensions of the slabs are
not indicated in the description of the phototypes which contains only some
of Countess Uvarova’s considerations regarding their possible dating.

The domed church of the village of Dranda is located 23 km from the city
of Sukhumi in Gulripsh Region, Republic of Abkhazia. It is a unique architec-
tural monument, but its history is rather poorly covered in documents, and
even the date of its foundation is debatable.

The original dedication of the church remains unknown'; it received its
current dedication in the name of the Assumption of the Blessed Virgin Mary
in 1871 after it had been restored “by the joint efforts of Bishop of Imereti
St. Gabriel (Kikodze), who ruled the Abkhaz diocese, and the Society for the
Restoration of Orthodox Christianity in the Caucasus™. The church served as
the cathedral of Dranda Diocese throughout its existence from the second

11 https://anyha.org/drandatwy-anyha-dekor-afragmentkua/

12 https://anyha.org/category/museum/

13 Enpoabuesa E. 10., ApxutextypHasa niactuka..., €. 211-215.

14 The authors are grateful to A. S. Agumaa and M. K. Inal-Ipa for this.

15 YBapoga I1. C., XpucrnaHckue namatHuku Kaskasa, MAK, IV. MockBa, 1894, Tab.
X, c. 30.

16 Bunorpaaos A. 10., /lpanaa, llpasociasHasa sHunkoneans, 1. 16, Mocksa: 2007,
c. 129.

17 Ibid.
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half of the 10th century to the second half of the 17th century®. “Around 1630,
the Italian traveler Giovanni da Luca mentions him as the church of the Holy
Mother of God. In 1637 the temple was destroyed ™ and was gradually aban-
doned. As S. Sablin wrote in 1846, the building had strong walls and vaults,
although trees had grown on them?®.

The monument is unique in its current state of preservation; its vaulted
ceiling dates back to the time of its construction. The shapes of the facades
were slightly changed in 1883, when monks who had arrived from New Athos
founded a monastery here. “The architectural appearance of the temple was
changed: part of the arch of the vestibule and the wall separating the vesti-
bule from the main part of the temple were dismantled, and choirs were built.
... The iconostasis was ordered and made in Moscow.” After restoration, the
consecration of the church took place in 1886*'. In 1928 the monastery closed;
later a collective farm was established there, being afterwards replaced by a
prison which still exists in the building next to the cathedral.

During the restoration carried out under the leadership of the restoration
architect V. G. Tsintsadze in 1978, “numerous alterations from various times
were removed, including the onion dome and the central western entrance.
The sleeves of the cross received a 2-slope covering, although originally it was
probably covered with mosquitoes. Church walls plastered, leaving several
fragments of masonry for viewing™. The unusual configuration of the west-
ern facade having two entrances was restored.

At the beginning of the 1990s, repairs were carried out in the narthex using
modern standard bricks. Worship services resumed in 2002.

The church attracted the attention of many researchers. In 1833 it was vis-
ited by Dubois de Montpere?. Its plan was first published by M. Brosse*, and
it was also mentioned by M. Seleznev?”® and D. Bakradze?.

18 Ibid., p. 129.

19 Da Luca G., Information about Abkhazia and Megrelia, Tabagua I. Georgia in the
Archives and Book Depositories of Europe, t. 3, Thilisi, 1987, p. 160-161 (in Georgian).
20 CadauH C., [IpeBHUI FreHyI3CKMI XpaMm B VKperieHnn [lpaHabl, Kaskas, 1846, N° 8
(25 dpesp.), C. 4.

21 Bunorpagaos A. 10., [IlpaHaa..., c. 129.

22 Ibid.

23 De Monpéreux D., Voyage autour du Caucase chez les Tcherkesses et les Ab—
khases en Colchide, en Géorgie, en Arménie et en Crimée, Paris: Librairie de Gide,
1839, p. 318.

24 Brosset M., Rapports sur un voyage archéologique dans la Georgie et dans I'Ar-
menie, execute en 1847-1848. Rapport 4 — 12, St. Petersburg, 1851, p. 11, pl. XXXI.

25 CenesHeB M., PykoBoACTBO K no3HaHmio Kaskasa, kH. 1-2, Cankt-IleTepbypr:
Tun. Mop. KazeT. kopnyca, 1847, Tab. IV, c. 171.

26 bakpaase /1. 3. KaBka3 B ipeBHMX MaMATHKKaX XpUCTUAHCTBA, 3ancku O0LLecTBa
JiobuTenen KaBkasckoi apxeosoruu, T. | (noa pea. A. bepae), Tupanc: Tun. M. ynp.
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The date of the foundation of the church still causes heated debate among
researchers. The most complete information on the history of studies held
in the church (for 2002) is found in the book by L. G. Khrushkova,” and in
the article by A. Yu. Vinogradov (for 2007)*. Based on an analysis of archi-
tectural features and external forms, I. Tolstoy and N. P. Kondakov dated the
church back to the 11th century®, while A. M. Pavlinov believed that it had
been built between the 8th and 10th centuries®. G. N. Chubinashvili attribut-
ed the church to the so-called “)vari type”, and therefore traced it back to
the 8th century®, with L. D. Rcheulishvili*2, R. Mepisashvili and V. Tsintsadze®
agreeing with this assumption. E. Neubauer considers the church to be a Byz-
antine monument dating from the 8th century*. A. Yu. Vinogradov regards it
a monument of the 8th to 9th centuries®.

Another group of researchers, including A. Alpago-Novello, V. Beridze, ).
Lafontaine-Dozon*, M. K. Khotelashvili, A. L. Yakobson*, and V. A. Lekvinadze®,
dates the church in Dranda to the 6th century (before 548, when an episcopy
was established in Abkhazia). L. G. Khrushkova offers her version of dating-7th
century-based on an analysis of the domed amphorae and some historical
circumstances®. A. V. Sazanov, in his recent study, conducts a more accurate
comparative analysis of the domed amphorae and comes to the conclusion
that “the dating of the church is given by the intersection of the combination

HaMeCTH. KaBKa3ckoro, 1875, c. 49.

27 Xpywkosa Jl. I'., PaHHexpuctnuaHckne namatH1ukn BocroyHoro [puyepromopbs
(IV—VII Beka), MockBa: «Haykay, 2002, c. 260-263.

28 Bunorpagaos A. 10., [lpana..., c. 129.

29 Toacron WU., Konpakos H., Xpucrtnarckune apesHoctn Kppima, Kaskasa mn Kuesa,
BbiN. 4, CankT-TleTepOypr: Tun. M-Ba nyten coobiuenuna, 1891, c. 67, nnn. 59-60.

30 NaBanHoB A. M., [lpaHaa, MAK, Bbin. 3, 1893, c. 8-13.

31 Yyounawsuan I'. H., [Tamatamnkmn Tuna xsapu, Tonancn: M3natenbCrBo Akas.
Hayk [py3. CCP, 1948, c. 62, 67, 99.

32 PyeyamuBuam J1. 1., Hexkotopble acneKTbl rpy3MHCKOV apXUTEKTYpbl
4yepHOMOpCKOro nobepexba, CpeaHeBeKoBoe UCKyccTBO. Pyce. [py3na, MockBa:
«Haykan, 1978, c. 27.

33 Mepisaschwili, R., Zinzadse W., Die Kunst des alten Georgien, Leipzig: Liz. Aus-
gabe Atlantis Vlg., 1977, p. 64-65; MenucawBuau P., /Iparaa, Tonnucu: Meurepeba,
1983, c. 515-535.

34 Neubauer E., Abchazische Architektur im Spannungsfeld zwischen Georgien und
Byzanz (6. bis 11. Jh.), Byzantinische Kunstexport, Halle, 1978, S. 70-79.

35 Bunorpagaos A. 10., [IlpaHaa..., c. 129.

36 Alpago-Novello A., Beridze V., Lafontaine-Dosogne )., Art and Architecture in
Medieval Georgia, L.ouvaine-la-Neuve, 1980, p. 489.

37 XorenawBuaun M. K., Iko6coH A. /1., BuzaHturickun xpam B c. [IpaHaa,
Buszantunickmun spemeHHuK, T. 45, ¢. 192-206.

38 JlekBuHanse B. A., O [Ilpanackom xpame, KaBkas mn BuzaHtua, 1988, 1. 6, c. 211.
39 Xpvwkosa Jl. I'., PaHHexpucTnaHckue naMaTHuKn. .., ¢. 207.
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of cycles of the amphoras considered, falling in the middle - third quarter of
the 6th century. Considering the lack of mention of the church in Procopius’s
treatise “On Buildings,” completed in 560, and the transfer of Lazica to Byz-
antine rule as a result of a treaty with Persia in 563, its construction can be
dated to the end of the third quarter of the 6th century, apparently to 570 —
580. Thus, the analysis of the amphora complex of the Dranda Church clearly
showed that A. L. Yakobson was right. A later dating is impossible™.

One of the unique features of the church is its dome with sixteen skylights
at the base. The masonry is almost entirely made of plinth with rare white
stone inserts on the facades. A detailed description of the construction is giv-
en by L. G. Khrushkova® and A. Yu. Vinogradov®.

As for the altar barrier of the church, in 1833 Dubois de Montpere saw a
broken colonnade (of six white marble columns) “with perfectly preserved
capitals” which separated the altar from the main space. Templon parts were
connected with metal ties®.

There is also some debate regarding the dating of the aforementioned
two slabs depicting Christ and the Mother of God under arches of triangu-
lar ends, and Christ enthroned with two angels (published by Countess P. S.
Uvarova). Praskovya Sergeevna herself believed that the limestone slab with
the image of Christ on a throne with two angels can be attributed to early
Christian times, while the first slab is of later origin*. L. G. Khrushkova shared
this opinion, attributing the slabs to the 5th and 10th centuries respectively®.

A. Yu. Vinogradov believes—and we can agree with him-that “the style of
the reliefs is the same (on the 1st slab the figures look heavier due to the seat-
ed figure of Christ): the elaboration of the folds, the type of head and halo of
Christ, the ornamentation with the characteristic keeled ending. The reliefs
were probably made by a local master based on Byzantine models and can be
dated back to the 9th-11th centuries™.

In 2018, thanks to Fr. Dorotheus Dbar, another fragment of this altar
barrier (the base of the column is round in plan) was published with a unique
scene, namely “Jonah in the belly of the whale”, showing a rare iconographic
version (fig. 4)*.

40 CasaHoB A. B., [lpaHacknin xpam (AGxa3us) 1 ero 4aTupoBKa, Mctopnyeckie,
KY/1bTYpHbIC, MeKHALIMOHA/IbHbIC, Pe/IMITMO3HbIe U MTOJIMTUYeCKHe CBA3K KpbiMa
co Cpean3eMHOMOPCKUM perMoHoM 1 cTpaHamu Boctoka: Marepuassi VIl
Mexaynapoarorn HayyHon KoHgepeHunn (CesacTonob, 3 — 8 uioHa 2024 1), T. 2,
MockBsa, 2024, c. 92 —102.

41 Xpvwkosa /1. I'., PanHexpuctuaHckue namATHUKA. .., C. 260-265.

42 Bunorpapnos A. 10., /IlpaHja..., c. 128-129.

43 De Monpéreux D., Voyage autour du Caucase..., p. 318.

44 Yaposa [1. C., XpucTnaHckue namaTHukm..., . 30.

45 Xpywkosa /1. I'., PaHHexpucTnaHckme namaTHmkm. .., €. 270-273.

46 Bunorpanos A. 10., /IpaHaa..., c. 131.

47 Enponbuesa E. 10., [16ap . (apxumaHapuT), ApXUTEKTYpHaa AeKkopauus...,
. 196-209.
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In the summer of 2023, large-scale work was carried out to create a vir-
tual reconstruction of the altar barrier; in the meantime, several hypotheses
were formulated about the nature of the architectural decoration of the west-
ern facade and the shape of the altar barrier.

The scientific work on the virtual reconstruction of the monument under
study was carried out through the following stages:

- Research into, and digitization of, the interior of the church, and the
fragments of architectural decoration stored in its narthex;

- Creation of 3D models, an analysis and attribution of fragments (stones)
kept in the funds of the Ecclesiastical Archaeological Museum of the Holy
Metropolis of Abkhazia;

- Creation and verification of a 3D model of the altar barrier, and partly,
of the western facade.

At the first stage, a ground-based photogrammetric survey was carried
out at the site. In order to accurately maintain the scale, we obtained con-
trol measurements of the main structural elements: the length and width of
the structure, especially of its altar part, were verified. During the shooting
process, marked tablets were used, which made it possible to automate the
process of scaling a three-dimensional model.

At the second stage, the resulting groups of photogrammetric 3D models
were divided into individual stones. Each stone was analyzed and classified
according to its purpose: decoration of the western facade, fragments of the
altar barrier. Thus, a complete catalog of all the decorated stones was com-
piled, and a number of hypotheses were put forward about their location
in the reconstructed altar barrier and in the western facade of the church
building.

All the materials processed and used for the 3D reconstruction were made
public in a website created on the basis of the results of the work described
above. Three-dimensional models of the stones and drawings of the restored
structures (the altar barrier, and part of the western facade, with very hypo-
thetical assumptions about the nature of its decoration) were presented, with
an indication of the location of each fragment in a hypothetical three-di-
mensional model. Besides the small forms and the external decoration of the
western facade®, the website also displays the dimensions of the lost slabs
known only from the phototypes published by Countess P. S. Uvarova.

When reconstructing the altar barrier, the following observations and
considerations were taken into account.

Among the fragments of reliefs examined in the narthex of the Church

48 We extend our gratitude to G. A. Sangulia, Head of the State Department for the
Protection of Historical and Cultural Heritage of the Republic of Abkhazia, for his
assistance.

49 https://arch.ivran.ru/dranda temple, https://arch.ivran.ru/.
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of the Assumption, there was one® that can hypothetically be identified as a
fragment of an angel’s wing from the slab depicting Christ enthroned with
two angels (fig. 3)°. If this observation is correct, it makes it possible to recon-
struct the size of the entire limestone slab which is not indicated in the de-
scription of P. S. Uvarova. When reconstructing the composition, one should
also take into account that the slab published by Countess Uvarova is a frag-
ment of the scene. In this case, only its right part has been preserved (two
angels at the throne of Christ). Based on the available analogies, it can be
assumed that the scene was symmetrical relative to the semantic center—the
figure of Christ sitting on the throne. Thus, it clearly contained similar figures
of two angels on the left side. This circumstance should be taken into account
when reconstructing the dimensions of the scene presented on the existing
fragment of the slab.

In addition, during archaeological research carried out within the res-
toration of the church floor level in situ, fragments of the base of the altar
screen were discovered®. These pieces made it possible to determine the line
of the altar barrier (in the central apse) and, accordingly, its width (based on
the dimensions of the central apse). In the surviving fragment, published by
L. G. Khrushkova, a lower decorative belt is visible, composed of arched mo-
tifs and braces with floral patterns. This ornament has numerous analogies
among the fragments preserved in all the three aforementioned locations®.
Thus, their place in the ensemble of the reconstructed altar barrier (base,
including corner fragments) can be determined with a high degree of prob-
ability.

In addition, some of the fragments are folded into semicircles of a certain
diameter. Some are decorated with a characteristic ornament (a combination
of rollers and semicircular petal elements) which is repeated in the frame
of the arches™ on the slab with the image of Christ and the Mother of God
(fig. 5-7)>. This observation suggests that the upper part of the barrier was
designed in the form of an arcade. This decision was also due to constructive
necessity: if the slab with the Mother of God and Christ was part of the ensem-
ble of the altar barrier—which is very likely since the character and details of
its decor echo the found fragments, differing only in size. It could be only the

50 Enpoabuesa E. 10., [16ap [. (apxuMaHapuT), ApXUTEKTYpHas Aekopaums..., C.
268, N° 8.

51 Ibid. P. 258. N°1.

52 XpvuwkoBa Jl. I'., PanHexpuctnaHckue namaTHuku. .., Tab. LXII. 1.

53 Enpoabuesa E. 10., [16ap . (apxuMaHapuT), ApXUTEKTYpHas Aekopaums..., C.
213 — 214, N° 17 =19, ¢. 260, 261, N° 3, 4, c. 262, N° 6, €. 268-269, N° 9 —10.

54 https://arch.ivran.ru/dranda temple.

55 Enponbuesa E. 10., 16ap /1. (apxumMaHapuT), ApxuTekTypHas aekopatims..., C.
259, N° 2; . 269, N 10.
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crowning element of the composition, based on the shape of its completion.
In this case, the stability of the structure could be ensured only through a
system of arches®. Interestingly, a closer examination has revealed that some
decorative elements of the slab are reflected in the surviving fragments. In
addition to the characteristic decoration of the arches, noteworthy is the base
of the pilaster which separates the figures of Christ and the Mother of God.
It is made in the form of an arched motif, similar to the one decorating the
fragments from the base of the barrier (fig. 8). The capital of this pilaster is
adorned with the same motif as the braces (fig. 9).

Another important detail is a smooth rectangular groove made by shorten-
ing the pilaster in the lower left corner of the slab with Christ and the Mother
of God (fig. 2). This groove suggests that it was necessary to secure the slab to
the dial. This assumption is indirectly confirmed by the nature of the decor in
the lower decorative row of this slab (a belt of arches identical to the one that
runs along the lower row of the barrier).

Thus, the nature of the decor of the slab with the image of Christ and the
Mother of God suggests that its composition represents a model of the entire
barrier in miniature.

This assumption is further confirmed by some other fragments. For exam-
ple, the square groove which is located on the lower side of the round base
of the column with the image of the scene “Jonah in the belly of the whale”
(fig. 4)°" coincides in size with a square fragment decorated with a floral or-
nament on the front side and an element of an arched motif on the side (fig.
10)*8. A small groove for securing the structure supports the assumption that
these two fragments could be attached to each other in the frame of the royal
doors.

A number of fragments represent variations of the motif of double
semi-columns (with and without constriction) (fig. 11)*°. The same motif is re-
peated on the fragments of the base of the barrier®. One gets the feeling that
the entire composition of the altar barrier is made up of decorative modules
repeated in its various parts. In this case, the fragments of the base of the
barrier with the motif of double semi-columns hint at the place where larger
elements of this decor could be placed. They probably decorated the pilasters
separating the slabs of the altar barrier. Two fragments resemble umbons
in the nature of their decor and size (fig. 12). Reliefs that were not available
during the research carried out in the summer of 2023 (from the funds of the

56 We are grateful to the architect O. E. Klimov for his help and advice.

57 Enpoasuesa E. 10., /16ap /1. (apxumaHapuT), ApxuTeKkTypHas aekopauus..., C.
262 - 267.

58 Ibid. p. 268. N° 9.

59 Ibid. p. 261. N° 5. p. 269. N° 11.

60 Ibid. p. 213. N°17. p. 214.N°19. p. 215. N° 21. p. 261. N° 4.
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Abkhaz State Museum) were also taken® into account in the general scheme
for the reconstruction of the barrier. All of them have analogies among frag-
ments originating from the other two locations.

If the position of the slab with the image of Christ and the Mother of God
is correct in the general reconstruction of the barrier, its dimensions can be
hypothetically determined.

The proposed version of the reconstruction of the altar barrier (fig. 13-15)
has a number of unique features and characteristics; nevertheless, in details
as well as in its general compositional solutions (arcade), it has a number of
analogies among monuments dating from the late 10th century and the first
half of the 11th century.

Among analogies originating from nearby locations, we could mention
three slabs from Olginskoye®, a relief fragment from the village of Pol-
tavskoye®, and a slab piece from a supposed altar barrier from the collections
of the Abkhaz State Museum (depicting the scene “Joseph’s Dream”)5.

Some elements (the presence of arches and round decorative details on
the columns) of the proposed reconstruction of the altar barrier find par-
allels in the altar barriers of the 11th century from the territory of Georgia
(Shiomgvime)®.

The reconstructed composition of the altar barrier from Dranda re-
sembles, in its specific details (the crowning element above the royal doors
and the arched structure), a Byzantine altar barrier (not preserved nowadays)
from the 11"-century monastery of Monte Cassino. Unfortunately, one can
only guess its shape thanks to the carved top of a wooden altar barrier of
the 12th century in the Italian church of Santa Maria in Valle Porclaneta in
Abruzzo®.

The laconicism of the decorative details of the altar barrier of the church
in Dranda, and at the same time, its complicated composition allow us to
consider it a structure built between the 10th and 11th centuries. It was prob-
ably installed in the church when it became the cathedral of the Diocese of
Dranda.

As for the second slab with the image of Christ on the throne and two an-
gels, if the reconstruction of the altar barrier is correct, this scene does not
fit into its structure and design in any way (fig. 3).

61 Ibid. p. 211 - 215.

62 Ibid. p. 245 — 248.

63 Ibid. p. 249 — 250. N2 13.

64 Ibid. p. 217 — 223. N° 24.

65 lWUmepaunr P. O., Masibie popmbl B apxuTeKType cpeaHeBekoBoi [py3nn,
Tonnuncu: M3a. AH Tpys. CCP, 1962, Tab. 39.

66 /lnaos A. M., MikoHOCTaC: UTOMM 1M NEpCNeKTUBbI UCCNefoBaHus, MKOHOCTaAC.
lpucxoknenne. Passutne. Cumposinka (pea—coct. A. M. Jlnpos), Mocksa: INporpecc-
Tpaanuma, 2000, unn. 4.
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As noted above, a stylistic analysis of the images on both the slabs allows
us to trace their architectural decoration back to the 10th to very early 11th
centuries.

As for the iconography of the scene presented on the second slab, the
presence of two angels on the surviving fragment is noteworthy. It is clear
that the scene was symmetrical regarding the central figure, Christ on the
throne. Thus, it is possible to reconstruct the image of Christ surrounded by
four angels. This set of characters suggests that an abbreviated version of the
Last Judgment scene with Christ in glory seated on the throne was depicted
here. While trying to find out what part of the church might have been deco-
rated with this slab, we should take into account the following: firstly, judging
from the phototypes published by Countess P. S. Uvarova, the slab with Christ
and angels was made in a rougher and more schematic manner than the one
with Christ and the Mother of God, which we interpret as the crowning part of
the altar barrier. Secondly, the carvings on the second slab look more weath-
ered and damaged by external influence. These two observations suggest that
this slab may have been part of the outer facing of the church. According to
V. Tsintsadze, who carried out restoration in the church in the late Soviet pe-
riod (1979), traces of white stone carvings were preserved only on the western
facade of the church®. The proportions of this facade and the hypothetical
dimensions of the slab suggest that it could have been located above one of
the entrance doors on the western side of the church. If these assumptions
are correct, the reconstructed plot of the scene, an abbreviated version of the
Last Judgment, is perfectly combined with considerations about the place of
the slab in the decorative system of the church (western facade).

Researchers have always shown great interest in the theme of the Last
Judgment in the medieval art of the Christian world. Among recent events in
the professional environment, one can point to the colloquium “Resurrection
of the Flesh. Between Orthodoxy and Heresy,” which took place at the Uni-
versity of Friborg, Switzerland, on 23 October 2020%. as Also, there have been
some publications by colleagues from Georgia. Irma Mamasaklisi®, following
Nina Yamanidze™, mentions a number of early images of the Last Judgment

67 Tsintsadze V., Dranda, Georgian Society for the Protection of Cultural Monu-
ments. Friends of Cultural Monuments, 1979, Sat. 50.

68 https://www.academia.edu/44192252 /R%C3%A9surrection charnelle entre ortho-
doxie et h%C3%A9r%C3%A9sie.

69 Mamasakahlisi 1., The Last Judgement in Medieval Georgian Art (Tenth — Thirteenth
Centuries), Georgia as a Bridge between Cultures. Dynamics of Artistic Exchange (ed. by
N. Chitishvile, Th. Kaffenberger, M. Studer-Karlen), Convivium Supplementum, 20211,
2021, p. 168-187.

70 lamanidzé N., Le théme du Jugement dernier dans l'art religieux de la Géorgie : les
témoignages archéologiques les plus anciens, Cahiers archéologique, 2016, p. 59-70.

25



AGUMr4EUSh ULUBUhUBh SUPEShre

portrayed in medieval Georgian art, including the architectural decoration
of churches: “The figure of a trumpeting angel is represented on the plaque
above the window of the south projecting apse of the Holy Cross Church in
Mtskheta. A chancel barrier plaque at Skhieri (tenth century) shows frontally
the Archangels Michael and Gabriel. Plaque’s decor itself is of interest: the
cross embellished with interlaced ornaments represents one of the images
of the Second Coming with its symbolic concept. ... The eastern facade of
Joisubani (tenth century) combines a number of episodes from the Last Judg-
ment. ... A scene of the Glorification of the Cross directly connected to the
Second Coming is seen in the reliefs a Nikorts’minda Church, where even an
inscription attests to this. On the southern facade, Christ is ascended by two
angel while figures shown below hold trumpets. Between those there is a
blessing hand. An inscription accompanying the relief once again clarifies
what the scene represents: “This [is] the Secon Coming of Jesus Christ”. ...
Among the sculpted images at Svet’itskhoveli Cathedral, there is a relief de-
picting the Lord’s Second Coming. This scene adorns the eastern facade, yet
it has only partially survived, and today there remain the figures™.

The iconographic type presented on the slab from Dranda can be placed
in the iconographic and stylistic context of the monumental art of the 10th to
early 11th centuries. Regarding iconographic analogies from geographically
closer areas, we should first of all mention the image of Christ on the throne
surrounded by four angels on the tympanum of the southern facade of the
church in Nikortsminda (early 11th century, Racha, Georgia) (fig. 16). Here the
figures are not presented in one row, as in Dranda, but they are grouped in
the form of a square: four angels located at the four corners of an imaginary
compositional square surround the figure of Christ)™.

There are also a number of images where four angels surround a cross
which replaces the figure of Christ on the throne. This version of the com-
position is found above the southern portal of the church in Nikortsminda?,
and above the southern portal of the cathedral in Khakhuli (10th century,
historical province of Tao, Turkey)”. The same composition is found in the
interior of the circumambulation of the church in Katskhi (early 11th century,
Imereti, Georgia)™. In this case, the center of the composition is a round light
lunette.

The closest among analogies, both geographically and stylistically, is the

71 Mamasakhlisi 1., The Last Judgement ..., p. 169-174.

72 Dadiani T., Khundadze T., Kvachatadze E., Medieval Georgian Sculpture, Thilisi:
Cezanne, 2017, p. 207. Il. 424.

73 1bid., p. 206. II. 422.

74 1bid., p. 170. Il. 347.

75 Ibid., p. 210. II. 435.
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image of blessing Christ from the church in Martvili (10th century, Mingre-
lia, Georgia)’®. Here the scene is similarly presented on the western facade.
The figure and folds of the vestment are made in an expressive manner, with
rough parallel notches which to some extent resemble the slab from Dranda
(judging from the phototype). In addition, the surface of the image is some-
what weathered, which is natural given the location of the slab.

To summarize, the reconstructed scene of an abbreviated version of the
Last Judgment from Dranda can be inscribed in the artistic context of its era.
However, its place and significance in the system of the architectural decora-
tion of the church can be recreated only hypothetically. This theme requires
further elaboration as additional data are discovered.

76 Ibid., p. 178, Il. 370.
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BUPTYA/IbHAAl PEKOHCTPYKUUA APXUTEKTYPHOI' O
YBPAHCTBA HEKOTOPbIX LIEPKBEA ABXA3UM (X-XI BB.):
LEPKOBb YCIIEHUS1 bOI'OPO/ANLDbI B CENE APAHJA

EKATEPUHA EH1O/IbLIEBA
JIOKTOP MCKYCCTBOBE/1eHMS
UHctutyT BoctokoBeaeHnsa PAH

HUKO/IAIN BbICTPULIKWUI
WHcTutyT BoctokoseaeHnsa PAH

JAHUW APbITA

KaHA. TeXHUY. HAVK
UHxeHepHaa akaaemusa PY/IH

/IHIObOBb KABEHHOBA
LleHTp ncropmko—-apxeo/10rn4ecknx nccaeqoBaHmii Kpbima m
CpeanzemHomopbA MIHcTUTYTG BoCcTOKOBeAeHUA PAH

AJIEKCAH/IP KAPHAYLLIEHKO
LleHTp mncropmro-apxeo10rn4eckux nccaea0BaHmi Kpbima m
CpeansemHoMopba MIHCTUTYTa BocTokoBeaeHna PAH

I/I/IA KAPHAYLLIEHKO

CeBOCTOMNOJ/IbCKNIA FOCyﬂGpCTBeHHbIVI VHUBepcurTer

AHHOTAUMA

B cratbe wu3naraloTcs pesy/ibTaTbl paboTbl MO MPOEKTY BUPTYaIbHOM
PEKOHCTPYKUMW  apXMTEKTYPHON JeKkopaunn U Maiblx (OpM  LEepKBU B
[panae (Pecnybsinka Abxasus). Umetolmecst pparMeHTbl B HacTosLLIee Bpemst
pacnpeaeneHbl Mo TpeM KO/UIEKLMAM: B HApPTEKCe CaMOW LIePKBH, B ADXa3CKOM
[ocynapctBeHHoM My3ee B 1. Cyxym 1 B Mysee CsauleHHon Mutpononun
Abxazun (r. Hosbii AdoH). Kpome TOro, wm3BecTHbl (GOTOTUNUKM ABYX
YTEPAHHBIX HbIHE MAUT CO CIOKHbIMU MHOTO(PUIYPHBIMU KOMMO3ULIMAMMN.
WcenenoBaHne  ¢parMeHTOB C  MCMO/Ab30BaHWEM HOBEWLIMX  LMPPOBbIX
TEXHOI0TUI  MO3BO/AET BbIABUHYTL TUMOTE3Y O MepBOHAYaJbHOM BUAE
a/iTapHON Nperpaibl U O xapakTepe ykpalueHus uepksu B [lpanae. [aunTa,
KoTopas, BO3MOXKHO, YKpallasia 3anajHbiii gacajg, no BCen BEpOATHOCTH,
ABnAeTcA (pparMeHTOM COKpaLleHHOWM cueHbl CTpalHoro cyaa (Xpucroc Ha
TPOHE 1 YeTbipe aHrena). baarogapa CTUANCTUYECKUM M MKOHOTpapuyecknm
aHa/IorMAM STa CueHa BMUCbIBAETCA B KOHTEKCT XPUCTUMAHCKOrO MCKYCCTBa
pyoexa X u X| BB.

KaoueBble cioBa: penbed, nnactuka, CrpallHbiii Cyl, apxMTeKTypHas
sekopauus, [lpaHa, CKy/ibnTypa
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Fragments in the narthex of the Church of the Assumption in the vil-
lage of Dranda. Photo by Endoltseva E.

Reconstruction of the dimensions of the slab with the image of Christ
and the Mother of God. Dryga D. O., Karnaushenko E. N., Karnaushen-
ko A. D., Kazennova L. K.

Reconstruction of the dimensions of the slab with the image of Christ
and two angels. Dryga D. O., Karnaushenko E. N., Karnaushenko A. D.,
Kazennova L. K.

Column base depicting the scene “Jonah in the Belly of the Whale.”
Dryga D. O., Karnaushenko E. N., Karnaushenko A. D., Kazennova L. K

Fragment of the arch of the royal gates from the narthex of the church
in the village of Dranda. Dryga D. O., Karnaushenko E. N., Karnaushen-
ko A. D., Kazennova L. K.

Fragment of the arch of the royal gates from the narthex of the church
in the village of Dranda. Dryga D. O., Karnaushenko E. N., Karnaushen-
ko A. D., Kazennova L. K.

Fragment of the arch of the royal gates from the narthex of the church
in the village of Dranda. Dryga D. O., Karnaushenko E. N., Karnaushen-
ko A. D., Kazennova L. K.

Fragment of the base of the altar barrier from the collection of the
Ecclesiastical and Archaeological Museum of the Holy Metropolis of
Abkhazia. Dryga D. O., Karnaushenko E. N., Karnaushenko A. D., Ka-
zennova L. K.

Fragment of the base of the altar barrier from the narthex of the
church in the village of Dranda. Dryga D. O., Karnaushenko E. N,
Karnaushenko A. D., Kazennova L. K.

Fragment of the capital of the pilaster separating the slabs of the altar
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barrier from the narthex of the temple in the village of Dranda. Dryga
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Fragment of a relief with a motif of double semi-columns from the
narthex of the church in the village of Dranda. Dryga D. O., Karnaus-
henko E. N., Karnaushenko A. D., Kazennova L. K.

Fragment of an ambon from the narthex of the church in the village
of Dranda. Dryga D. O., Karnaushenko E. N., Karnaushenko A. D., Ka-
zennova L. K.

Sketch of the altar barrier from the church in the village of Dranda.
Klimov O. E.

Reconstruction of the altar barrier from the church in the village of
Dranda with dimensions. Klimov O. E., Endoltseva E. Yu., Karnaushenko
E. N., Karnaushenko A. D., Kazennova L. K.

Reconstruction of the altar barrier from the church in the village of
Dranda. Klimov O. E., Endoltseva E. Yu., Dryga D. O., Karnaushenko E.
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Tympanum of the southern facade of the church in Nikortsminda (ear-
ly 11th century, Racha, Georgia). Photo by Endoltseva E.
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